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MARY 

• 

THiPEOPIX a 8 OA 

0 pi a witness called On behalf of The• re.0 

ing duly sworn, testified. as 

MR. McLAUCEMIN: I ask If your Ho 

other witnesses be excluded. 

THE COURT: They may be excluded.. 

Direct Examination: 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Q Mrs. Of, where do you live? A I live at 89 

avenue. 

Q what number? A 892 Prospect avenue. ' 

Q 892 Prospect avenue? A Yes, S1Z* 

Will you speak as loud as you can madam? 

Q And. that is in the City of New -Verk and :Sorati 

that the, 

Bronx? A Yes, sir'; and the Borough c the Bret*. 

Q Arid the Borough of the Bronx? A teal 

And. in the G unty of New Yore? A Vet,. al „ _ 

Q And about how high up? What nrelierietIl •et.Teet? 

bered street? mile* what street? 

dred and Sixtyfirst street. 

It is near One Hundred and Si fl;Vet. Teet? 

And do you live there with yOUW itu,6bandt 

And what is Viar husband.' S ,btaineputA 426:044 

ming bUsinesc. . 13' 



• • •- ? ..... • • • • • , 

• ow...m.o. 

" 
A framing business? A Ye 

Downtown? . A Yes, Si. 

And do you remember the 2d day of Ileibrmiltf 

Q Did he go away, your husband, or the mor 

A Yes, sir, he did. 

MR. McLOUGHLIN: Oh, I object. I ask 

rag 

tile Dia-

trict Attorney be directed. to let the witne0s te 

WY, and not -lead her directly 'AO the anotrer. 

THE COURT: The question is leading. 

MR. GRAY: Yes, sir. I will not lead 

BY MR. GRAY! 

Q Now, describe that house to the jury, vill 

storteg andswhere the ,door 10 

Is two stories high, and there is quite a, 111 

front, because the, street has been talc= down 

be lower. 

Now, what door do you go in and out of? 

door. 

Q1 Yes. And where is that? Is that at 

stoop? A Yes, sir. 

Q And there is also a door in the b eMent 

Q Where is that door? A Thal L e. ite 

On the ide? A Yea, sir, on nOrth 

On the:north old° of the houzet 

j 
.• 



and goes down to the cellar. 

Q And goes down to the cellar? 

Q In other words, the side door on the_north •OUP, v41021 

step out, you do not. go down any steps? A rs Earl 40 

to the cellar. 

Q Yes. A But it is even with the gr04n4. 

Q But it is even with the ground? A Yes. 

Q Now, do you remember about twelve  6,.Olocl.z noon between 

twelve and one co clock on the day of the get ot "February" 

A I do. 

Q 1901? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, state what happened and what attra0 yelir attentiqn 

there at that time. A I expected my grocer to send. home 

my groceries which I had purohased before, Saturday Wrang, 

and the groceries always COMB through the side door, sm:1 et 

about twelve o'clock I heard the footsteps on the board IV 

which led to the back door, and I went down to open the 

cellar door for the grocer - I thought it was the gooOr 

and when I had the door opened I saw a strangaman. Het 

a book in his hand and a pencil and asked me if I I* 

groceries to order. I said. np. 

Q yes. A- And he aeked. me if my busbnnd. as hoMe.1
 

Suit 

1  nwhat has my hUsbarid. to ..do w14b the groceries? attla tie Snail 
iu 



I said, 0116. 

MY 400Z Whenit 

man rushed down and said, "Let's go to trasiteS0 

men followed, and he took my by the throat, 

41 Who took you by the throat? A It fia t-IP.d0:011404-

Nbw, go on and state what happened. 

Q You must say the defendant when you mea 

A And gagged MO and covered my eyes 

sandbag and. bound my hands anci my 

seream, but I could not very :Loild, and whonevak 



said, 0but 'up or 

-hilt' a dozen: times, an& 

the eandpeg, thvee o 

Well, now, one minute. Had. you ever seen tile de 

before that time„ when he took you by the throat? 

Now, under what circumstances had you loon the dei:on.dant t 

clay bere? A He rang the.bell ab1 the • -•.O11 door, 

Yes. A Ari4 he asked. me ii Xr, liVe 

Yes. A And. I said. yea. And. ttia dercadc 

uDoes he keep a framing busineas? and I said, !To 

he wanted to know if there via a vacancy Of, a. p ac 

in that business, and I said, yoLVant to ltnOt7 t1t,, 1r 

I don't -know anyttling about .474d he, vent-

away again, and. I looked, at him very sharp and I oiten WO 

to the parlor itTindow to get a good loot. At him unt 

down the at ep • And the v.:tap is row & and. taAxile otkp 



Q And did he ask you anything about your buSbatalls 

Now, on this day in question about- two '0 elect, when' 

seized. you by the throat first, what did, thO O'thetZ' Ven 

at that time? A I ,had a glance at the three, but ID 

eyes were covered and. I was thrown down. X eoiild, not see 

And beict;*e he covered them and as liø radtiett tower 

you and as he took you by the throat dAd YU1)106 174,,ent 

time to see him? A I had. If a, melt takes' me 

throat I have a good chance to loot flhja,cG,a.fld5p I 

Q Yes. Now what did you jhearhbSO to Vou44O, 

men, besides "Let ' s get to businees"? A.. 

.purse out of my pocket., and. he said, "TIODO 

Was this after your  ova Wealo covelfed? 3n, sLr 

While he held you? 21, 19hile he held MO. 

And what else did.,-you he;ar hilt( SO? A MTher the men it, 



gone into the house and, come doWn lie ordered thip to Wa 

out of the front door. - 

Q What did. he say? What 'were 'Mies WO he 1.1.001/ 

said, nao out of the front door." 

Q Yes. And what did he say to thera, t1Ttliifl, before they 

went In the flouse? A I didn't hear 14.111 say WV:thing4 

But between that time one came down and. mike& for the keys. 

Q HOW did. they ask? A They only said, uSCeys. 

Q And what if anything did. the defendWa eay 

fendant put his hand. in my pocket and gop.M tileT0 keYs and, 

also my purse, and he said, "HeZe 11.6r:11112190 if" 

Q Now, your keys up to that time had. in in youx' cet? 

They had been in my pocket. 

a, Now, was anything done about tying you (4.gaggite you at 

Q Well, state that, please. A I wa gaggta 

had thrown me doewn,and bound. 

Q,Well, wbo did this binding? A The dOtendait dig it. 

Q, And was he alone, or with sombodY else? 

came to the door and asked me fOr the groo rY  

Q Now, he was with hizitt A Yes, 134.. _ 

Q And he was With b. rigdt along, was het', , 



like a cushion Which wa.0 roger, but it must ha:VO 

handkerchiefs, Which were fotnd in Vie cellar, 

ceeded in pulling out of my mouth. 

Q Now, vtIvajt did they do about tying you explain that more 

fully -- the defendant and thesei,ther Men 4410 oame -'•to t 

door fhen you opened, it -- explain how they tied you. 

They tied, me with a rope by the feet and some atrtigs 

around tile arms, and after -they- had all dale tie defen 

said, "She'll loosen that," and he bound. Die p ee =rt. ,g 

put a, leather strap around my legs and tIghtenad the stTing 

around. my arms also. 

Q Go on A And then the defeildet said, ,ullet 

up to bed" -- after he had ordered the tbree thieiteS, out 

the front door -- "Let's take her up to 'bed and two Met• 

, took me and carried me from the baek to the '±zont 

! cellar and throw me into the coal 
b124et

 part of py cellar. 

Q On the coal? A :yes, air. 11V head. was down on 

ound and my body was up on the .coal;. 

Q Now, did you hear the steps of the man as they wezitawar  

again? A yeE,)1 str, 

Q Did this defendant aft sheforie, of, the peciPai0 vittka.  

Put-r-Your-in the ,aeltLnellar? A  •wal$4- 443d1. 



more 'said after that. 

Q And. then they carried you lint() the coal bin? A. 

they they carried me into the &el bin, and. they left. 

Q Now, all this time you had been in the front baseMea 

Q Nov, after you were left in the coal bin what a 1r013, do 

then? , A I vras sure that th had, left, anti I tzied Ana 

made a desperate effort to free myself. 
4 

Q Yes. A': And I tried to sit up, but 41 tUMbled aver ag 

and then the first thing I got that stuff CUof w zouthi 

and I screamed as loud as I could for he  bat no one came. 

from the ;strings and. straps, and. finally' X sU000ede4, anti I 

staggered out, first, to the back fence and soresmed..tor 

help, and no ohe came. And then .I went out oi the ftont 

4. dbor and. went to the street.' 

Q Now, one minute. Before you got to the street. Mwc 

the coal bin you say you finally =mewled in pulling 016$0] 

th*go-out of your mdilth? A Yea, 

Q Ahd..wher-e did you throw them? - Bight the're ,12), the, coal b 
It 



'A Yes, sir, I -left them rtit there in the Coal bifl 

Q I show you these han erchter0 atd. ask you if you recognize 

them? A These are the ones. 

Q That one? A That was the one. 

Q That was stuffed in your mouth? A That ws sti.tffettd 
iflmy

 Mouth. 

R. MaLOUGHLIN: I object to the leading 4:raestiOns 

District Attorney. 

THE COURT: They are leading. Ask *03p..if Tecog-

nizes the handkerchiefs 

THE WITNESS: I do. 

BY MR. GRAY: 

Now,. tell all that ydu know Oda 

were brought to me and shown to me, end -there was .nothin 

of the kind in my cellar before. 

Now, look at this strap and -this bit, Ole COT 

ever see those before? A pay votten th-sy wove shown 

after the assault. 

Q lArho showed them to you? A The -office. 

Q 1 
That was my apron that ther *pre off fle 

Q Who tore it off you? A ,The'd.eiterldant. 

Did you have that apron, on IVO t body when be • 

A I had. 

• 



A When the otfice a 

j showed it tome. 

Q 1 When the officers showed it to you? 

Q Yeti. Now, when you got Out, at  the fron, doo,..1iat j4 

you do then? A I screamed as loud, mg I Wad teir,liel. 

and I went to the next door, to Bennett 's hOUSe. 

Q Yes. How far Is that? A And. pressed the button 

Yes. How far Is that? A It might be thirty foot. 

There is a vacant lot between your hoUtte and. theiro? 

And4I- pressed the button and. they didnot 

seem to hear it, the bell di'divit Work, and,I went bao 

again, and when I was down in the street the color.6.0. 

A PriscilIa.Burrin. 

did you have some talk with, this coloted: Own? 

old Tier, did you? A Yes, sir, t Stated what httgt• 

Q Never mind what the conversation w 

colored girl do 'with you? . A Be took, me by the hand an 

led me up to rxj house, to the tcont 

Q Yes. Now, before you got to the other house, when you so, 

you went out of the- front door a*.Od, Wave dUizg for roan, 



that, similar in gll respects, befOre? 

Q This was shown to you by the offic 

They found It In the c ellai. 

Q Now, When you went out of the ad. you 6 

Q Did anybody come? A No, not untiL .tSs.* the coioreci 

Go on. And I also saw about the sane e a man across 

And I called ;him to 'come Ara help 11; 

And ho went  OT the 

when you got out and met Prtsciallt'Sav*La 

anything remain on your hands of$theat t*OingstA. 

What was it? A On my left am here .Iferp those 

left, strings. 

And yl_hat did she do, 

phom off. 



Q And What, if anything, was the condition of MU, facts and. 

throat then? A She saw it. 

Q Well, all right. I will prove it %tiler.Now, after 10 

got back to the house What happened' then? Very 

shortly after that the officers came and I telt proteCted 

Q Yes Apd did a doctor come at any time? 

Q And how long did you stay in bed.? A r- Stayed. in my 

Q What day of the week was it? 

.Nowf, ,1 when 

again? 

s the 2d of Fetattaty.) was 1 

the 18t1i of Februagp* 

It was on the 18th of February? 
- 

Q And where was it? A It was in -the- court tooM Q. On0 

Hundred and. Fifty-eighth Street and third eget 

Q It was in the court room on One Hundred. and. Pifty!-Sightlik 



MR. MaLOUGILLIN: 't object to that, yoz1416i as lead 

ing, particularly leading. 

THE COURT: Oh, no, that is not leading, i)Tior 

were other men the-re at the time. 

EY MR,. GRAY: 

Q Were° there any other men there when you p1,01001. Ulm out? 

A Yes, sir, there were, but I saW an soon an I 

not look for others. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q No, never mind. that. You were asked if there_ were•°the* 

people in the room at the time.. A Yes, sir, there Were 

Q Now, what did he say when you picked hi lit out? A Eó 

didn't say anything. I told the offieers that Whitt IMO 114r. 

man. p• 

Q

 

Have you ever seen any of your property again? 4, Z 4aV8:-1. 

no t 

Q Now, after you came back to . the house you wontu •qtair 

did you? A • I did not. 



Where did. you go.? A I. relnained in the diniflg: ?O 

towards night. I was quite exhausted. and. could no 

Arkd after that some time after that, Aid. you go t 

ydur house and investigate, look around? * Not the gam 

coat was taken and a few gold pins of mine wer4 tiAkOM 

MR. MoLOUGHLIN: I object to tht yoVW BOUo please. 

THE COVRIEL!- I will allow it. 

MR. McLOUCTEMIN: Exception. 

A (Continued) And a new pair of gloV 3tht. .J. IVA 

And everything was opened. keys, an 

the time? 



Now, madam, you said to the learned 'District Atforner the. 
you identified, this man in the police court? A I dld so. 

Q You did. not go up to him and identify -111x in the ''00u.111 did 

you? sight up in front of him? You were eto1 in the 

seats., Toren' t you? A I was. 

And. as he-bassed down the aisle yOU told the Do3.1,0e-, 

officer who was with you that he was the man 

not so. I was sitting QUILtes near him. ("' 

But You wexe seated in the mart? 

sitting inside of the gate. 

Q! He was seated inside of the rail? A 'real 

Q I And you vxere -outside of the rail? A tatN S11 t VOTY. 

near. 

Q Yes. Bat 'you did not go direr tO 24M and 4Ctrir'lle wag the 

iF man, that is, right in front of him? You to1J tltø offioe-

A, I was not asked to do that. 



(1 One of the officers in the ease? 

Do rou remoraber 1tt3 rianye? 

It was an officer Whii Catie on ildree-

He said there was some mann 4own ifl00,130110e cOUT, 
and I should go and identify Win if I pOUld:., • 

Is he the Officer Who was seated ta the deats tn to 

A He did not talk to me. 

No, no You told somebody In the pOlice coit., Uhen, thi 

man was seated inside of the railiral that 'he wattale iafl 

Was that the horseback office A Was nO 

Was he an officer ta citizen's• ,olothes? 

sir. Am I permitted to say soMething 

NEIL GRAY: Nb. Waiit a =nate. 

THE ouuRT: 4ku will have aMp10 oppomtuni 
Et MR. MeLAUGHLIN: 

Q Now, just as sogn as you got to-the eoUlt whaM 

This officer in plain olotUOS? 



Oh, I know. But the rot person that you svelte 

side of your own people I mean, in Vogel& to 

Vhom did you speak to first? This officat_ :in plat 

A No; there were some offUerEN and. Mr() th 

one spoke to me, and they- told me there VAS Seine Man, end, X 

should go and. see if I could identify rfir tan,nty'L1fl1. 

MIL Me:LAUGHLIN: I would like to }110/13 DetectiiieS Italy 

.and. O'Brien brought in, your nono#4,. two ot the de-_ 

Q The taller man? A Yes, Mx. 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: That i Offic Xelv 

officer is O'Briona 

Ei*MB. McLAUGHLIN: 

Q At this time was the defeuut 113,Side Ot 

A He was. 

Or was to brou 



, Did see Kelly or 'O'Brien tako the -man ;blade the 

rail? A o.When I Gaw the derendtult tirat ris 
wasInside

 or tile T1l. .

 

Q But was not Kelly or O'Brien with him at thattiMeal A. 

don't remibo that. 

Q Will you swear that they were not with hill? 

Didn't you see Kelly and. o rien 'take the nOlserWoril 

A I couldn t see that. There were too Zany ito e 

But you sail the two of them with the dotendetntl! Sau saw 

Kelly and. O'Brien with the defendant? .A figlyr 

Q And then they came right over to you from fliiiOo. the: 

don't MAW; thot:tiTXP' 
' 

they were not sure Whether I is there 02 nOt 

Q Well, didin t they seat theMadVos each on one side of 'MT 



this was ray man. 

Q And there were only two there? A X guess so. 

Q And both were manacled together? Beth tad•:IrMS OW 

handcuffs? A I think so. 

Q Ydu saw the handcuffs? A I did not. 

Q But you saw them tied together? A I did not, neither. 

Q Well, than, Why did you say just this mittate that they 'Were 
-- 1 

A Not tied. together. 

THE COURT: Me said, 01 think 

had handcuffs on. 

Bt. MR. MeLAUGHLIN: 

Q You had seen Kelly, Detective Kelly, MK O'lltion before MX 

spoke to them in the pollee eonrtt 4 Y6S1 air. 

least, I remember Kelly. I* don't remember O'Brien. 

They were both at your house? A Th Were at my house. 

In the pollee court? You had seen them before A Wiien 

they took the defendant away. I was there* IrraS In co 

yet. 

Q I know. But I rant to get you tE.$1iy tolaten they. , 

brought, him in. 

THill, oxim : Well, she has.. testified tbr '41,400. 



Nor 

that he was there-When she came in, 
t, 

rail. She hap testifi,cici to th.at three t 

MR. McLAUCHLIN: 'I did. not so understand it., 

ae. 

22 

THY, COURT: Well, I did, decidedly. he. said that he 

was inside of the rail, sitting dom istien 

came in. ghe said so three tide t, if V 

are in any doubt, r, ask her agitin. 

Br MR. MaLAUOHLIN: 

Q Was he within the rail when you came in? A Yes, sir. 

Q Sitting down? A Yes, sir • 

Q Two men together? A Yes Sir • 

Q Did you know that two men were to: IA) there? A  

Q The detectives did. not tell you that there were two zep, t 

be there? A They did not. , 

Q Mad= 

MR. McLAUGHLIN:, Let me see the cOMplaint, pleaSe. 

MR. GRAY: There is no formal OoMplairrbi. Was on 

information furnished to the Grand alXV., 

MR. McLATTOHLIN: Oh, no complaint in the 3,011.0 cci 

R. GRAY: No. There is of another olivgeo, 

M. McLAUGHIJN: No. Bat we are trying 'tlits ease 

You know that I am not talking boivb. ata 

MR. GRAY: Iriinderstobrd you- to mei; if thov9 Ito* 

complaint against the defonaan 

• • • 

—t. 



MR. MaLAUGHLIN: 

Q You made no complaint In the -pollee ? A-7  

Q You were not brought up before, the ill A .was 

Do you remember the judge who was thete, t o judge wbn was 

seated there, de you remetber his'naMe 

)74 !NIP COURT: 

Q IDo you remember the name of the judge? t re 

member. 

Q Madam, When you came into the court -room and.sat down had 

you recognized this defendant before eirther '0141 the CB Oc.. 

tives spoke to 'mut_ Had. you reeoga d the detoridant la. 

.your mind before they asked you? In Ply mil,14?„ 

Q Yes. A Oh, yes, I had. 

3311* MR. McLAUGHLIN: 

Q • How many other people did you aay- wtte00 e 'is 

case? A How do YOU  mean? How maw? 

How many more people were there at the time •th-at Mt .117 

this robbery took place? How many mere m0111 A, hloe 

A The one who 8)Oke to me by the dOor. xemember 

face. 

Vihat itind- of a looking' Ian Wat he? bad Stql 



r 

kerWand pp was about five feet four ago 4.....1111. 

what is that?' A About five feet to  in he 

A very small man? A No. That is not t've 

is it? 

THE 00URT: Well, that is a email siZetkpan and, 

sized. woman. 

MR. MaLAUGHLIN: 

Q Did he have, whiskers? 

,m4an. 

Q Then you mean a, mustache instead of WITielceVe? A yes 
4„ 

A No, sir, otiy, xasta 

Do you remember what kind Ot "hat he vrore? mean the 

sheert man? A He wore a Iffi eitt. •derby. 

black derby? A Yes, aU 

Do you remember any of the othe:e Dee* 

I only had one glance at thee. I on,ir refnembe,t, 

of them had a bare face. 

Q A smooth face? A A sMooth.facel Vet% 

fQ Was he a big man, or a little man? - A 1040V Ma114 

little. 

Q And that is the 'only one you r belt? A Oh, the de-

fondant. 

Q Outside of the d hdant? A Witold:0 it itte. defen1/41 

Q And you eMember trix? one With the 3:114 Mum, ,aoh 

I ' • 
air. 



Q And that is t wee that you emember of :the .it  ea; 

sir . Bat, amongst the area, uld'not be SU et-

cause I had pnly one glance at thug'. 

Q Then you would not be sure of anybody but the  0 endantt 

The degendant I Ka very EtaTe ot 

A The ot11e5t one I would not know abOUt, 14 SaW 

Q But you say that you had only one ilanoet 4. The one tha 

took me ,by the throat. 

The man with the red. mustache? A Yes,, I would 

recognize him if I saw hiTh. as 

Q Nov, do you know anything that Viltts-Man with the 

tech° did during the Occurrence., What part be  took in it? 

Can you remember? A 1.19 h:eld me don, but  the defend= 

did all the talking. c4i 

Q He did. all the talking? A YOS, 4,474 he it e 

with the sandbag. 

Q With the sandbag? A Ye 

Q You can t tell what anybody 01Se did aXcept What he did? 

THE 001YET: Well, we cannot go.'0103. olreir trao 

thinic you haye finished, couno03.10r. 

MR. MoLAUGHLIN Oh, I think It ?“4it 22014 Youz ilortori 

,

 

an isztortant cane Vag. 



BY MR. McLAUGHLIN: 

Q You were very much excited, naturally V 44011 exatedl 

A I am not. 

Q But you were at that time? A Yes, i4 xwai scared 

very much. 

Q This took place on February 2d1 A On Vebraary Od 

Q And the identification took place on what date? A Ofl th 

18th. 

QL Of ---- A Of February. 

Q' Of the same month? A Yes, sir. 

Qi Now, didn't you, when you tola the officer that you thought 

that you were positive? 

man.„ 

Q Mat is the man, positiV 

positively.11 

Q And was that your very langtsge 

Q Now, tell me the.langUago that 

A It was kt KellY 

Q Yes. 1,Vhat did' be ary to you 



.Yes. I. Kelly said what to you as nearly as yott ean''r 

A He asked me ifI was snre that ,t'hat was lir• 
• " 4 

man, and. I said, "Yes. This is my Zan* 

Q Now, what, did the other officer say Who Wets Seated on the, 

other side of you? A There was an offIder Who wanted. 

me to make an affidavit right away, but it SeeMed tb.at Mier 

was no chance. 

But what did. that officer say to you? A He wrote down 

my name and address, and,finallyi they said. theilr could. not 

to this case9 the day it ilaptened hi Was, tele—

Q And  on the day that this • /mat, was arrested it he 

with you about the ease? A He d d nOS. 

Q• He did not make any assertion about 'ilia Idgaendant being tilt 

man that assaulted you? A Why, no. lit had, not s40 

Q But didn't he say that, to you, or did 1101" 

He never made any assertion about, the offieert hay‘infs 

defendant, the One that aittaliilted you!? did  

T113 001111Z:  Q Now, madam, you SaiCa utt:Le nile ago ti 
.4.1.444 ••••••*4,14",,..."411",•••4 •"••••r".••••• 



j you would, like, to say somethAng, asked.it you 'Were per-

A There had been three prisOnevs oug1.t to wbouse, 

before I identified the defendant. 

Three prisoners were brought to your boUle before tilat? 

A Yes, sir. But I could not identi'tUci 

Brought to you by thee same detecttves? A Y•2; 

MR. GRAY: Now, I am going to Eta perMiseion to call 

he physician, a little out 02 ordar 

• 
ett beiialf of 

The People, being duly sworn, testif14401bAla0114 

(1,, Is the complainant here, Mrs. Of, one 

A Well., "I vr vyinghOmhad just antlout •l'eaehed 
4 



HUndred and Sixty-first slreet. 

852 Bastane RUndred and sixty-first street/ lee, s 

And t is within three blocks of where libiapccUrred. 

And just as I was about to turn into my stable* a imunted 

officer, yfaidhoff, I believe is his name, was standing 

there at my stable with his horse, and he halal otos, won 

whole line of testimony, ria 

MeLAUGHLIN: Exception.' 

A Yes, Slr requeS 

And I found Mrs. Otis heap tilling voelft, 

object to this entI8 1Ii Of ex0 

ination on thve part of the 

When was this, doctor? 

half past twelve 0oolook4 noon 

THE COURT: Allowed. 

MoLAUCE6121: bxsertion. 

AR. GRAY: Q Go on4 doettOr's 



other persons in the room, and. I believe the colored giv 

- from, next door was in the room, and the officer Went• in-

with me. 

Q Yes. A And she was lying on a couch in the'dlning" room 

and her face was covered w-lth blood.. Shp had tWO Map 

wounds on the left temple, both of therti right doWn to the 

bone; one about an inch long and the other one somewhat 

shorter. 

Yes. A The Whole left side of her head. and face was very 

sation, that is, the blood tad escaped from tile little blood 

Vessels under the skin and disoolOred the:whole side .0f.11.0 

face and head. The left eye was 'closed she could.n0, 

see out of it at all -- and the right eye Was in a pretty 

bad way, too. 

Q Yes. A And the character of the WOUMAW00 mob, 00 ono 

would suppose to have been produced by sot() sort of a blUnt 

Instrument. That That is all I could say about it. 

You visited: her after that ,.I suppose? 

subsequently until she was well. 

Now, what room did you see hece in? 

dining room of her house. 

That is on the A On the 



A114 were there any artielee there that you reMeMber t t 0 i• 

time? A Well, T wouldn't like to say anything about th 

Q You don't reMeMber that? A 29, Si.., 

Q And that is all that you know about the Casei 

all that T know about the case. 

0!ross Examination: None. 

P,R r-SOILLA BURRILL, awitneSS 00110. on, 

of The People, being duly sworn, testified Wit tbllows: 

D,irect Exam1nat1,0n: 

BY MR. GRAY: 

41 Qi Priscilla Barrill, w asPe avenuhere do you live? 

Q  net number? A 898. 

896 Prospect avenue? A Yes, sir. 

In the Oity and °aunty of New York? A 31,0 

Q And the Borough of the Bronx2 .11 Yes latr 

Q What? A Yes, sir. 

Q, nom do you live with there? A Mre. e ett. 

Q; Now, do you know Mrs. Of? A Yea, et* 

Q' Where does she live? A In the neXt dom. 

two hundred yaTds I think 



•7•••••• • 

Q You think it is as much as that? A Vol sir. 

Q Now., do you remember the .2d dalr'O WebrUary? 

Q Saturday? A Yes air 
. 

Q Did_ you see Mrs. Of about noon .that der A 11 

Q That time was it you saw•her, do you t Abi;lit 

past eleven. 

Q About half past eleven? A Yes, sir. 

Q Well, that is abbut noon. lbw, state What it wá that 

attracted. your attention When you dideee You were 

Working where?, In the kitcrien? A go, sit; I was jfl 

the dinl  ng room. 

Q You were in the dining 7...00mf A 4,14%'sit* 

Q Go on and state, please. You were. the .414423e zgott? 

was in the dining room About that tite,and.1-0ffiiedo 

through the front door, and I saw omebodf o1flg do.170 uOr 

the front stoop, and. they were going Üt tO the sate, .0n1 

opened. the fron door and. went out and 'stolid atattt XiVe 

minutes.  I thought at first it was a 'oratY per0On: 3210 Wa 

carrying on so. 

Q, Mrs. Of, was it? A Yes sir. -4 

Q Well, was it your next door neighbor? AV40.4 "Oivs. 

I stood there abbut five minute beitive X COtZId.atm?* 



of blood when I saw hei; and her eye was all swollen 11,04 snC 

shut up, ,and When I went to her I Oa de aOh 48 or; /mat 

Is tile natter?' and she says to Mei She SOY'S 

tertibly injured by a thief." , 

McLAUCHLIN: I object to all Mi.S, yotr fROTIOr 

THE COURT: I sustain the objection. YOU need, no 

state what she said, but just what vile did or 

you did. Leave the rest out. 

A (Oontinued) Well, I carried her Oir-Sr tO 

untied the cord from around her arM 

Q Which. arm? A Her left arm. 

Q Now, I show you these cords. yOU recognize any or tt 

Q Which one do you recognize? 

like that (indicating), 

Q ; Which was around her left 

Q I Now, you show the jury how It was aroUnd her arm, as 

as you can. Just in general. it loottiogr it wag on 

I your arm. A It-wa.s tied arOluid ttice, tZ Tit Ok 1:0 1 



And was it tied at the wrist, ,the way you have It on your 

Yes, sir, that 1S the Way (illustrating). 

And as that the only thing you say on her at the 

A And her apron was around her neck, a piece of her. 

Q Whore was It? A Well, it was tied VIA herneck, and 

that other piece was in the cellar (1ndiea1ing). 

Q Well, was this other ptece around. her neck? A 

That was not around her neck. 

Q Where was tills? A That was int) the 0011=4 

Q Weil, did you over see,this piece before C1 .41eating 

other piece)? A No, sir, I never saw thgt beitlre. 

Irian, when you say a piece Was about her fleck, 410 yOu 

a piece of material similar to this (indicating) 

to the smallor piece. And it was tied around her zec;,t 

Q Like the smaller-piece, and it was tied aroundherneola 
w1/41 • 

Now, haw was it tied around her neck? 

tied around this way (illustrating). 

Was it tied in a hard knot? ' 

And did. you take that off? 



, 

, 

You picked it loose? A YOril six 

Nov, was there anything else on her when you taii(her:A21 

yard at the time except the cord around-iielitIvist,itnd the 

Piece of apron around her neck? A slx.1, 
o 

And what did you do? A I took be* to DOUSE) and 

stayed With her until the policeman came. 

Q And how long was that? A About text minutes. 

And where was she during that time? A Ole was laying 

on the sofa. 

In what room? A In her bedroom. 

That is up' one flight; is it, I'roi he basement? A Yes, 

sir; 

Now, What else did. you do? A Weill Z Itent WIth the  de-

tectives when they cap, tsii4 th_vough,, the house-4 

You went with the detectiveS? A 

All through the house? A Yes, -sIr. 

, 
• Welii we went up the stair's, in the flist plao$ 

Q ; Yes, go on. Tell all that you. did. 

By THE 00UFe: 

Q That did. well find. there? A 7ell, the firs thing we 
• 

found'Vlts we fotmd, the keys was thrown On a bo1 *hoz) t1.6, 



Yes A AM all though 0 vas a11 TariShaaleal, 

and everything 'thrown out on the fl Otl! 

A And in every Tvora 44; who tiivn   

Pieces, except one place, and that vas- thcOgoset, and.Jtbst 

A Where it was first done at.. 

And what did you see .in the collar?' ' -What Pairt, 

Into? A 13.1 Tt5 touna some handkerchiefs. WM 

And what else? A Well, that takwe 
afterwards a strap was found down there 

CI Well, were you present then? A 

Q Now, but whexji you were there wasianyth#g 

handierchlifs? Cords, or nythiigteS:tde he bandker'..-

A A piece of apxon. 



was in by tile coal blfl.. It 1: j.nby the aal b 

'eft-411'kt You ea? 

were laying at the' door. / 

Q Of What? A The cellar. 

Q Now, I ishow you 'these handkerchiefs 

saw those before? A Yes, sir. 

Q WtloTe did. you see thorn? A At th.e door. 

Q Lying at the door of the cellar? A" Y0S, sir. 

And who was with you when yeir got them? A inte detectives. 

Q  The detectives'? A Yes, sir. 

Q And. they took them in your presence? A YOSI sir. 

Q Did you ever see this cord before (IndiCa ing)? 

sir. Just only one piece. 

Q Did. you ever see this article Which. E show U.:befgre 

A Yes, sir. 

Q , And. „what was its'pondition when 'MU, saw We3.1 

had blood on it, and it was torn like that (17austrat 
• • 

Q Well, it had blood On it, and was taxa-like ,that (Illus 

trating )? A Yes . 

Q Was it emt-ns as you see it now? A, 

Qi Who were these officers that Were-171* 





Mr. Dodin, What is your bupineSs? •A A etUden-6 in the 

New York aollege of, Dentistry. 

And where do you live, sir? A 001 VtoaPtlot avenue. 

And that is in the vicinity. of the preMiteti at 1,30 PvosPeot 
avenue, in the Borough of the Bronx?.. A Teo siriaoreer 

cinpialnant, Mrs. O? A ,TeS, 

Not then I did not knoW her by sight, but 

On or about noon of that day were yoll at o ne%V the. Mem-

ises of Mrs. Of, at 892 Prospect avenue? A.__ 

What attracted your attention there? A Well, I W 
4-

coming home from college that satuzidayt mut Inoticed. a, 

woman across the .street, trying to draW the tttentton of 

Italian, and. so I stopped a While 

One moment, please, Mx. Doditi. What time was this? 
, 

Between twelve  

And. you were coming then frp..Uoget 

And that got out at twelve o'cloek 

paturdays we have no college., I wit° wn.;theVa, 



Was the womtm that you sa 

Q In the gateway of her own residenCe? Sir* 

What, was she doing When you saw hax? 11/02,11 She was 

holding her hands to her head, (11-lu1 

naled to me to orosS the street. 

did you do .ve 

Q And. you did not p in yt,ura la. Not tir,* 

Q And. vias there anything to attract You4, 1ttt3ntlOn:.4t: 



near the gate. 

Q How did she loOk,then? A Well,pne of her eyes Iffas 

_ 
closed, and she was bruised about the f*OelliandIlaT Uaran 

were tied. 
,r, 

Q One of her eyes was closed and she was • raiSed the 

face and her hands were tied? A Yes, sir. 

Q What were her hands tied with? Tied. with what? A Wit 

a kind of a heavy cord or string. 

Q With a kind of a heavy cord. or string? A 

Q And you did pot do anything With her? A Nbi 

Q But just went for a pollee officer? A. Yes, Ear. 
R..4410, 

0 Iros-s txaminetion: None. 

The People, being duly sworn, testified a0 follows  

Direct Examination: 

MI MR. GMT: 

Q Officer Maidhoff, are you attached to the manicar41 PP1106 

- Farce of the City and County of New 'Writ? , A to* 0 

Q1 And what duty were you assigned to on tjhe et, of Peiblra.arr, 

1901? A Mounted ittla dui. 
S. 

Q Mounted patrol duty'? A Yes sir.' 



_  
,„Ammmmlc='=mgrgom=====m=mmuoaeft-4,4644.4iMMMNAMINWWrLiAmma=w=w ..catu 

Did you see him on that ,day2 A Yes, vire 

Where? At One Htnared andAptty-glecond, s 
- 

Westchester aventle. 

Q At One FlUndred and Sixty-second at 

avenue? A Yes, sir. 

Q And that is in the Borough of the t 

two blocks. 

-1,Vestehoetter 

And how far 'from the premises 892 Prospect avenne? A Abon 

Q And did he tell you somethIng then? A Yes, sir. 

Q, In consequence of what be  told von vithat ad you do? A 

went right to the place. 

Mat Place? A 892 Prospectavenue'. tol t 

there had been a robbery   

MR. MaLATTGIMIN: Objected to. 

THE C OUFa : Objection sustained. 

BY MR. GRAY : 

Q ',One moment. Don' t tell that. Were the promises that, 

you went to the prises of' Mrs.. Mary Of,, the cornpiiiaZr 
::1Arr 

here? A Yes, °Sit , 

Q And what did you do When you got t 

horse to Dodin to hold. 

Q Yea. A And _I went,* Whelk I•ot tho:e0 

coloret lady leading Dirs. 0? in  lib, blouse* 
*Vamp.. •••••".!" 



Have YOU seen her .h`ere this Merning? -A Yea, s. 

And is she Priscilla Barrill, whO to4illed hero this nto n 

ing? A Yes, sir..  • 

Go on. A And When I got inside •I asked the I a* 

Of, whether she lived there -- T (11.4't Impw Who a e Wap.' 

the 'time -- and she said. yes, and she said - 

you had some conversation with her, didn't VTAL 

Of? A No, sir, not heri 

BY THE 0 OM: 

Q You said you. had a talk with her?. A Siri 

side of the house. 

• - 
A I asked her how this thiflg happened. 

' 
R. G."TiAY: 

Yes. 

What did I do? 

THE GOUNE: You; oannot giv What 'rahit tbld /but• becaus 

the defendant was not present" yo tt C. to:O-

tt:tat you did. and What iV01% off gra boW ate looked 

Well, I seen that sho had been assaulted« Y went 

Jte;r200......0JaiL:$1341481 



had. been 

MR. GRAY: Never mind. at -MI6 tad. yOU. 
' 

_THE COURT: You cannot glve any 00nrereatIon that took 

place, but you can tell whut YOU, 4W.. 

THE WITNESS: Oh, just how 3; fleet, hoer?' 

MR. GRAY: 

Q

 

How; did she look when you saw her? A W 11,• Sie had. 

very black eye, T, contusion of the lett •°Ike arid there WaS 

also two gashes on tile left side of her heady and4he had 

part of an apron 'tied around. her neck. 

' Q Well, let me show you this aron. oo...that reset/AO. 

A That is it. 

Q I Well, did she have a cloth similar to that *Una ter.-'nsok?' 

A -Yes, sir. That is all she had. arm* her neck; aim -

liar to that. 
, 

Q That is all she had around her neck imilar, to,. 

A Yes sir. 

CI' -Anything else on her body 114_ you notice 

body? A No sir 

Q And did you examine her wriats at al 

Q You did not? A NO, at** 

Q LU. right. Well, IMO else was there that ,,ettl*te 

attention to her, What 0140 AH 1043, Ilhot(41 

she had been 



• 

Q Well, what did. you do? A Well, theft I went to work and, 

wanted to cal uP,the ambulance, and se 414n t want 40 

ambulanoe, but she wanted' 1183?dootoZ4 and. Eás1e. fle nor 

up Dr. Biegelman. 

The gentleman Who testified. here this morning? A Yee, 

sir. And., before I left for the doetor, I tOak a loo4 

around. the place to see if the atewe,rs-arOund .the place lied 

been tampered with. 

Q How far did you go into the house? 

from the basement. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Into what room did she a000mp rt 

in the first floor. 

Q Now, state What was In the-rooMe you visited All VII 

I seen was the drawers, and they ware pUllettOUt„ out Of 

bureaus, and everything loOlted Upside doWA, 40. if 04!" 



I wrote out a little report, and-ity e1ieras Jut oomin 

out at  the time, and I teld hIM to go there an, .t:01Fii) 

of her while I went to thp doctor ELUd made a report atth 

station house. 

Q And did you subsequently make a report a tttaltiOn hon 

Q And that is all you know about it? 

Of your own knowledge? A Yes, sir, of my own knowledge. 

Only that when ,T went to the station 'house the three dotes—

Iftives were sent, right up there. - 

And. their narips ? A .11rveret stet and Gerity 

Yes. tr A AndFooVer was the one that identified this 

Well, never nd that. Don't state anything that you. d.Ict 

were not present, were -you? A No, flIT¼ 

oss Examination,:.jiOne. 

t;SR, a witness called On belislik Of g! 

• People, being til" 'Sworn, testified. as ibllOwat 

,ir vet 

Q1 .Officer Poster, are you an officer of the Ifftnicipaa. 

Irbrce of the '41.3ity and County.' of NMI to*? 



To what duty were you asaignedlon tyie 2d day of rehrue. 

1901? A I was detailed. for speeial dUW in the Thirtr-

sixth Preconct, assigned to invesAlgate aesikult and rob-

bery that was committed at 892 Prospect aVenua'..; 

Q Did. you visit those premises on that day? A Yes, s 

Q Whose premises were they? A ',Mrs. Oft a, I believe. 

Q And what time did. you get there? A Between One and. I. 

Q And did you go with anybody else, or 

with Officers Bit'rerett and GerttY. 

Q Yea. Well, state what you did. A when. We 

rived at the premises of Mrs. Of We Met egelplan; 

attendance upon Mrs. Of, and after tnei flocior had. left we 

questioned Mrs. Of, how the assault was cotanitted6 • 

. every room, and went to the oellar. 

Q State the condition of the roORIal as you t*Und till", 

We found the bureau drawera aUUJi.ed d• tha ,st 

all over the'.'flobt, and the we:at:OD-elclothes . ,. 



uehed #oUnd- and sgme layine on the floor end boxes um 
, maged and upset, and the °entente au tooted, ariundt, 

(a. Did -you find any keya anywhere 

few keys stiCking in the -deet0 

silk handkerchiefs there was an init 

we saw some rope, or cord, at least. 

Well, one moment. I dhow 'YOU ,th 00020111$an ask 

you if you over saw that before? 

A This is one of the ,handkerchiefe Oindleat 

Q One of the handkerchiefs? 

Where did you pick that UP? A This waa jfl. the collar 

Whereabouts in the cellar? A At the coal bin. 



Now, I show you this handkerchief and ask you it 70U ètGY. 

saw 'that before. A Yes, sir' This is, another ono o• f 

the handkerchiefs. That is the one with the letternt" 

And where. did, You find that handkerchief/ 
) 

And you picked up the handkerchiefs and took tiem.O the 

Officer Everett; 

And you showed them to---? A) The ottler officers 411 

MeLAUGHLIN: , No objeotian 

And I will tie them all together, and / 

ask that the three handkerohiefa be maricgo People 

Exhibit 1: 

Vow, what else did you find' if anything? 

I found some, cord down there. 



Yes, where. A In the cellar, gt the coal 

Q Well, I show you this bit. of Cord, which I have in mr left 

hand, and ask you if you everiaw that befell". 

that has a resemblance to the cord that yea there) and it 

Q In the cellar, at the coal bin? A Yes, sir. 

And this (indicating another piece of cord)? A ,That wae 
A ,Y‘ 

also there, near where we'found'the handkeroblefs. 

MP. GREY: It is offered 4 evikence. 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: No objeetibn. 

(It is marked People 

BY MR. GREY: 

Or were you there when any other cord was rband bY anYbodY 

No, sir, I was not,5,. 

Q Now, I show you this strap ahd ask you if you irterk Saw tha 

befoee. A Yes, sir, that was in the cellar, near the-( 

:table  in the cellar. 

In. GREY: It is offered 411 eliiden0e* 
MR. MoLAUGHLIN: !No obje t 

a 



Where was that? A That was laying at  table, atit ybu 

go into the rear door into the apartment.' 

In the basement? A Yes, sir. And was half empty, only 

a little salt in it. 

Q It had a little salt in it at the time? A VS, sir. 

Q And how much ---hold that up ---how much of the capacity of 

this bag was filled with salt at the time that -ystu pulad 
2, 

it? A Well, it was filled up t..o about there indicatl.. 

ing.) 

Q You indicate about halfway? A Yes, tr. 

Q Were these spots on it at the tiMe? A' Ten, sir; the 

; were on it at the time. 

Was the tear in it at the time? A YOZ 04r4 it wa0 

broke. 

And how about the contents of the bag re they' oll the 

floor by the sidie. of the bag? A It was laying. 04 tti 

part on the table. 

11 And filled up to there (indloatiu )4 A 01 
, 

MR. GREY: -It is ofFered.ftkayiden00 

MB. McLAUGHLIN: No objeGi 



(It is marked People's Exhibit 4)  

. GREY: 

Q1
 row, 

after finding that 

Of, and asked 

stuff there, 

if she could 

went Up ar ittesrviewed 

give anyjigcripti4t'of th 

_ r 
Vogl and after that what did you do? A We immedia e 

-ly tu the stationliouse and reported, and went Out on the, 

case. 

Yes, and after that what did you do?' A Well, I.brough 

two men to Mrs. Of's house to see it she could identify 

them, answering somewhat to the description that she. 

and she said no, that was not the men. 

Q And under what circumstances? _A I was getting'ited 

go out on a tour of patrol, and one of the pert AU the 

tion house said ---

MR. McLAUGHLIN: Objected to. No, flo 

B1 MB. GREY: 

,Q 4?. What did ,you -see? 

there, and I walked up j#4, , • - 

Q Never mind wh9t you said. What did On 140 4 

:mt. the -dofegdaut ttA44441 

to Officer 0 $rien- 40 It. -6414. 



to Off ice  O'Brien. 

And wh44 did you do? A I told Officer O/Birion—", 

Never mind what you told hint. Vhtt did you do? 

I went out on patrol. 

And that is all you know about it? A Vbati,'s .lIi. 

Well, at that time was the complaining witness therel do ' 

you know? A No, sir. 

Mary Of? A She was not. 

She was not? A No, sir. 

Were you there at any time when the c mpleginallt was th 

and the defendant was there? A No, sir; I was not, 

Now, have you told me everything that you Oan,a 

case? A Yes, sir. 

Cylloss Examination: None. 

Bi THE COURT: 

One moment, officer. When you spoke to Officer e 

the station house wds the defendant there? A He wag_ 

-t standing. there, yes. 

Did he hear what you said to Officer tot A 

think he did, your Honor. 

TH ODIAS EVERETT awitness called on behalfot 

. People, being duly sworn, testified as t011owet 

Direct Examinatio 



Officer Everett, are you attached to the Municipal 4'01460' 

PorcQ of the City and County Of New York? A lesliar; 

To what duty were you assigned on February 2nd, i9011. 

A On Saturday, February 2nd, 1904 about 1.20 in the 

afternoon I was sent house in Prospect Avenue. 

yes 896 Prospect Avenue? A Yes, sir. 

Yes. A To investigate a case of robbery and assault. 

Ye. A when I got to her residence Dr.Siegelman was 

there attending to her wounds. 

And who went with you? A Officer Faster and GerrIty. 

Yes And what did you find? A I:found her  suffering 

from two black eyes andfcontusions of the head 'and face. 

And did you have BOMB talk with her? A Yes, slr. 

I got the descriptiOn with 

Yes, sir; went through the house.. 

Describe to the jury what you did and what you found. 

A went down to the cellar, and we ound one_of 

those handkerchiefs and some cord, and a sal 

found the two handkercheifs. 

Well, let ma show you People's Exhibi 

handkerchiefs tied together, and Idesoribe. anything WO you 



know about either of the three handkerchiefs. '41110-

handkerchief here (indicatine, Afro. Of told me rp in her 

id yettlind 

And did you ever see that handkerchief before (itdicatin 

A Yes, sir; it was found in the-saMe pla 

And this handkerchief (indicating), where *O it fouia 

It was found in theceIlar. I dotit,102oW whether 

this was found in the, rear orfrent ' 

Well, it was.-found there? A Yet4i sir; the three were 

At or near the coal bin? A Yes, sir.. 

And you were with the other officers at theli 

together Did you ever see those befOre A VW* 

Where did you find those? A In the cellar, 

Whereabouts in the cellar? A Veer the 4041 biu. 

Let MB show you Poop' ,Ixhibitlio AU4 I ask 



A Yes 

In the rear cellar alenga .d4 the able 

Laying on the collar/loot. 

its condition? A It was btoko and Viood on 

Laying on the, floor, 

the contents of the bag, which- SuppoSedi were 

On the floor? A Yes sir. And theiv-wae particle,s 

A In Mrs . S cellar 

was it in the oollar/ 

A On the fl 



that that was.' the -apron that they put,, over  her 

MR. GREY: Never mind what She claimed. 

that as People's Exhibit 5-afift rip) the (lefendan 

JCR. McLAUGHLIN: No objection. 

(It is marked People;Is Exhibit 5 

Well, were you present when the defendant was arrested? 
A.; 

ll THE COURT: Now, Mr. Distriet At a the tOrney,. 

other witnesses that you -were, Callin these 

same questions on which I believe there 

Officer Geity is as to 

same quest ions, but the othe*Officere. 

to different matters. 

THE COURT: There seems to be nb. dispute s.bowt the. 

.4condition of these premises and these articles 

being found. 8-0 ko-1 US43, 1.titr,tit1,11$ 

time now unis you have ether ma tell; tic bring 
4 



. . „ 

MR. GREY: Oh yes, sir; I hall, other umtters tO bring 

out. I will not call. Offi Gerrity then, 

because he would, testify to' sUbstgitiaIly the 

same matters. I will, however, Oall Office 

0 13 R IEN, a witness ealltd 'on Amhalf re the 

People, being duly sworn, testified. as follows; 

attached tO the kunionagt 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: You had better 

I will not •eiiange my min 

And to what duty were you aSs iSned-

making the  arrest f the de fendtUIV 

Under wh t circumstances was UV,& ow wait 

arrest the man, not the Tay before but I toe, 

Police,aeadquartr the next*rhin$ ettor being 



Yes. That That was irtxt what day?, A On the 18th 

Q Were you present t any time in the Station hOus t 104t4 

Street, when the complainant, Mrs..of, watt there ud 

defendant was there? 

about 104th Street? 

Well, I may be. Certainly I am. Well, the other pta id 

house. Were you present at any tithe at the station heueo 

4n. your prebanct when the defendant was there anctMary Of, 

the complainant, Ia§ there? A Mrs fwa never in t.he 

station house. -

Where were you together? A It was to; the court room,in 

One Hundred and Fifty-eighth Street APd Third Avenue.  

Well now, is that the police court rOoM there A.. 

sir. 

Well, how is it divided? A Well, it is all 040 roomi 

and a bar separating the judge ---the place erfir the. 

prisoners were arraigned and the spectators QU the 0#to1de 

There is a rail dividing the spectators from ihQ 140,sonere 

and the bench? A Yes, 4 

was there on the 18th of Febraali`y. 

Now, state what took p3041p thee tn your pregence when you 

were t ro. A We had /this p 1$' and 1,1110t2$W l'et0 

-ed to Police Headquarters an £thG4 Theanbaelt up to te 



and 'before we went down I tolethe----
, 

Never mind what you said. A Well, the serge 

desk WRS sent over for to have Mrs. Of_come avOr, 

their proper place, I said went awt Iodkintfor Mrs 

Of, and it appeared that nobody. knew her. t di4rOt knOW 

Of and another lady together. 

Behind the rail? A Behind the 

Yes, go on A Well, I said, "Mr. Of, riov you 1onI 

amongst those people there, that is inside the rail, OW it  

you see anybody there that you claim. assaUlted yOu), WhY. 

pick them'eut,"'and I at her dawn in the front Beat neh 

did ho do. A She Gaid'...--lookIna t3tom over 00 1)0 

out that that was theitian thEit,had Oasaulted bar. 

.And that was all that took gp,ce there:Maul Udp 



aitYi talk with the defendant? A What is that 
t, 

Did you have any talk  then with 4. defend nt? A I told 

him that she pad picked him out as the 24an that had ,assaultr , 

ed her. 

Q And what did he say? A HO said waa not. 

Q And what other officer was there at the time with you?' 

Well, there was Kelly and Handeraft4 and Several Qt 

• her officers, but I couldn't say exactlt_yhether they 

heard it or nit, while -they might have, might havebe04 

,right alongside. 

Q When you had the conversation with Mia. Ot was he seated 
.6 

Yes,. sir. 

Q Behind the mil? A Yeas 'sir 

can't say, only. I. know that Kelly waS With mO t4 
headqud----------------

r" 

ters, and we were right in there around tO$ Oar. ThOre, 

was quite a good many--
,.! 

Q. By Kelly you mean the officer ith'whom rOn were brolOit 

ip, this morning, and asked to stand up with in o4nrf/ , 

A Yea, the man that was breus10,114 with Me this 

i morning. 

Q ,By the counsel for the d ndant? ,4 es, sir4 % 

Cross Examinat 



Where dip. you arrest the detendant? A r didn't arres 
x•-, 4. 

him, sir. 

Who did arrost him? A Officer Zellr* 

Q After the arrest he was taren t6he wtation bouse-wh re? 
, 

At One Hundred 'and ServentY.4eight4 Street and 

Washington Avenue, the Thirty-seventh prettlnot. 

What day was that? A That was on the Oth of gebruary. 

Was it that day ,or the next day that yOU'Oent for this lad 

the complainant? A , The next day. 

Whom did you send? 4ell now, I spoke in the atation house 

telling them that this man looked a, ,004 deal like the 

description that had been given to ute by aP airiAr ega 

and I suppose they sent SOMB 01101100e I don't know who 

it was, and I didn't know Mrs. Of at the bates 

You walked in with this defendant did Mx. into the police 

court? 

And your partner Kelly walked in also? A yes, 

They wire in front of us two going in. 

Q Handcuffed? A Yes, sir, 

Q With bright handcuffs? A Yes, sir. 

Q. And ibu seated the two defendants inside or the rail? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q. And the two of 'You lofl two defendantb and ova' 

to this lady, did you no 41611Idn' 

s 



•••••••••••.. 

Ole two of us left him, but X know that some little_ 

after I thought og Mrs. Dr and weit looking for her. 

Did you go and sit down beside/her?. A X-dbnit knoW 

whether I sat down beside her or leaned •olio* and asked 

her who she was when I found Out that she Wu the 1400 

Well, will you say that you didn't sit down beside her? 

I will not be positive about filat. 

Will you say that the other officer didn't sit ,down beside 

her? A No, sir. 

That you were on One side and the other Officer op the othe 

side? A That I positively deny that the two of Us were 

sitting on either side of her at any time. 

THE COURT: Well, what differen4e doe$ nake?, 

°ER. McLAUGHLIN: Well, my claiM, js that they made' 

the identification. When the title 00=$ t4q. 

my claim; and it is very material. 

THE COURT: Proceed. 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: And I except to your Honor mark. 

THE COURT: Very well. 

BY gR. McLAUGHLIN: 
4 

Q You brought these me down the aislet A ee, air. 

Q Handcuffed? A Yes, s-sr. 

And you and your partner right behind the* sir. 

,And you seated them within the P411? A Tes,sir; 0, • 



And then you asked her to identify somebody within the 

I don't want any explanation. 

THE COURT: Let h*: answer the question. 

McLAUGHLIN: iedopt to your Honor's ruling 

THE COME': I have made no ruling, arid ybu will not 

note any exception, Mr,. stenographer. It hU. 

made a direction to him to answer the .U08ti 
a0 e 

to continue his answer. 

A (continued) No, I did not. 

BY MR. McLAUGHLIN: 

No, air; I didn't. But I believe 4bot pp de* 

fendant afterwards asked MB if I didnIt -do It,' It $ did 

wouldn't 'do it at any rate. 

And if you did do it you did it withomA owing•ItV 

A Yes, a ir ; and I am aatiSLie4tbat ofidult. 



BY THE COURT: 

Q One moment, officer. Is it ouartompry in helOOliae 6ourt, 

for )?bfficefr t() bring in a prisoner? A' 'tea,: .0.r. 

In dcuffs? A Well, when we fetch them romq)OliO0 

Headquarters, your Honor. 

That is customary? A Yes, sir, 

Q Was there any departure in this case from the usual cue torn? 

No, sir. 

MR. McLAUOHLIN: I object to the custom. 

THE COURT: Your objection is overruled. 

The exception will not 1:10-12004 

AR, McLAUGHLIN: I except to your BOnOr remark th0 

it will not be noted.—

BYTHE COURT: 

Q One. moment. I only want to ask rouif there wos any  4,01)41 

ture from the u"sual custom in bringing them m Headquarter 

as you say. A   Jib, r. 

Did you know Mrs. Of was in the court room When ytn4 rought 

those two, men into the court room? A 110) ni nevet  

sawJie woman before that d4y at all 

BY MR. McLAUGHLIN: 

Q Was there any complaint made against thi man i..4Zie. 



I mean--- 

rNtt,1144.414. "lt: 

THE COURT: 

The judge said- - - 

on one case, and that • was el:L.01204 S;nd t have these pergp e• 

put down as witnesses,- and they '0411,11d o before the 

Grand Yury, and the 

KR. Me LAUGHL IN : 

please. 

BYi MR. Me LAUGH', IN : 

Then there was 

THE COURT: 

Grand Jury vrould a4t aOicardinaly 

abject to all this, .3.f' yoUr'"ein 

no coMplaint taivan in this case 

He has auswerea it alreaay. He sal 

Was the re any c ompla int maltle as tuns t th 

4n that police courts? A. 

-Dire.et Examtn,:atiOn: 



,rmniAraillourdi 

MR. GREY: , 

When you say no, you mean that it was not writ en 

A It was not written down. 

Q Not reduced to writing? A No, sir,. 

Rp-Cross "Examination:. 

BY MR, McLAUGHLIN.: 

.{R. AcLAUGHLIN: Now, you must bear with tCejytur. • 

Honor. It is a very important case for the de 

fondant. 

THE COURT: I know it is. 

BY MR. McLAUCHDIN: 

Q Was the complainant ever VrOught before :ti  at Judge 

-0 a complaint? A Mitch complainant? 

Q The complainant in this case? A Well t4at• 

say, that I wouldn't say. 

BY! MR. GREY; 
.1••• ""'• 

Was the defendant brought before her? A 

was an officer in the precinct that--

MR. MeLAUGHLIX: Objected to. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Was this defendant discharged or held? 

another crillar. 

13Y MR. McLAUG#LIN: 
. 4 

But he was never held pn t1is 

tow 

know th t t4er 

Ae was h ld 0 

mp1aint A -e- r 



identified except this defendant? A Up to what- man' .a 

house? 

Q Mrs. Of's house? A I never brought any1;10dY to her  hou 

BY MR. GREY: 

Q. Let me ask you one more question, Officer O'Brien* Rough.' 

speaking, how many people were there inside of this railin 

near this desk? A Well, at least fift6ens 

Q And he was one of the fifteen? A Yes, sit. 

BY MR. McLAUGH,LIN: 

But were there any other, persons than• these l two bound 

gether with handcuffs? A There were 'svo e And these 

tiro men \ye-rent t fastened together with :handcuffs thetti, 
4 

thy have handcuffs on them? A NC, sir;they 

didn't. They were  taken off when we got in and put them. 

inside of the wail. 

THE COURT: ''And the complainant has tstifiod, several 

came into the courtroom. 



People, being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

Direct 

BY KR. GREY: 

about the 18th of February to *hat dutY were you 

On February 17th -1 was assigned to the 

clothes duty, special duty* 

did you arrest or assist in arresti4S 

Venue an 

Seventy-eighth street 

A On .the 17th of- FebruarY, 

you do after you arrested 

Thirty-sixth precinct. precinct. 

What station housp*is that? A The T oixth pitetinc 

And after that what? A Well, we arraigned 'him in. ceUrt 

the next morning and before that ire 1144;'i044t0 pOlic0 
1 



I 
Now, what took place when you arraignedhlm? 

prisoner was in t4 dock where the rest of the_pribonero, 

was. 

Well,hew. many? 

714 

Well, there may have  Ail five, 

or seven, I wouldn't be positive. 

And after that what? A Well, I walked Ou into the 

where the people were sitting, and Mrs. Or) AS I.Underatan 

her name now, was there, and she was brought there by 

members of the other precinct, by detectives from the °the, 

precinct. 

Now, how long was this after you had brought.h14 547 

A Oh, about five minuteei I shbUldlOile4 *but tk 

Now, what did she do, *O. Of? A Well r'644 1,111dOr''' 

stand, she identified him there. 

Yes; 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: I object) unløSS h4:10a 

Honor please. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained, Re rntit&.e. a more 

definite answer than that.. 

MR. GREY: -I will withdraw the question and 1410111 -

the answer be stricken out. - 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: I ask that the answer 

THE COURT; Yes strike it oUt 

BY1MR. GREY: 

Q Now, did you have a talk With 



A Just asked her, after I found ouVt who 

is all. 

e Was', th 

Now, did you talk to the defendant at the,tim‘? A Y 

sdr; I spoke to him while the case "was going 

all. 

What did you say to him? A What did I say 

Q Yes; aftet Mrs. Of h d.told you something. A 

were just simply talking about the case. 1 to 

fendant that this woman identified him 

Q-- And what did he say? A Well, he said tha 

wrong, that was all. 

Q That she had him wrong?.. es 4 

Is that all you know about it? A Viet 

Cross Examinatic n: 

BY MR. McLAUGHLIN: 

Did you---were you present when Mrs. Of pointed him Get? 

I was inside of the dock with the WI,soner at the 

"Well 

d the dear 

time that he was identified outside amongst the people; 

that is I was in the dock with the prisoner, lallcing to. 

him at the time, and outside of the dock was Mrs. Of) 

the other people. Do you understand what I'meara 

Yes I u4derstand whit pou mean. Did you see oiu 

ing out? A- No, sir; I paid 40 attention to that 

And you didn't see then wethe.r the officer 440-101V 



ing out? A I did not. 

But you stayed in with the two prisoners? A had bus1.4, 

ness in there, I was 'drawing up my case before the MagiS. 

trate . 

And you did- stay inside with the two prison 

1 had to. 

Q And how long after you brought him in did you 

manacles off? A Right away. 

The bracelets? A Right away. 

Q And did you notice whether- Mrs'. Of was ther 

time? A I don't know whether She wa.s there c 

time, I didn' t nutice 

Are you one of the two officers that took- lo Other, , 

to Mrs. Of's house to identify then/ A 1034 sin, 

Did you send, up to her house to have her cc* 1k 

tify the two men that you arrested? A I diltnat 

partner might have done so. 

But he didn't- do so in your presence? A - 

gas it while you were arraigning these- two men, MUM the 

identitrication took place? A Oh, fl. They were in tote' 

time. They were in about four or five minutes or 4 Uttl 

the 

ot:Lat t 

not a 

141 
ldnger before I understood that theft) wae-au identtheatio 

At all? A Yes; sir. 

a4- Did he say in your pres t110 0the f ic Or ha 

' 



• 

4 

pointed him out to the woman? A 1 don't rqmambd 

might have said so. , 

No, in your presence'. A No, sir. 

'Ho didn't do so in your presence? A Not that remeMh r, 

no, sir4 

Q Not that you remember? A No, sir. 

Q Wouldn't you remember that if he had, de 0 so/ A Won't 

you repeat that question? 

Q Wouldn't you remember that if he had-d-en0 so?, A He said 

somebody had pointed him out, yes. 

BY THR COURT: •Na 

• 4 

Now, in order to clear this matter up' You talk about 

arraignment of this prisoner. You hellifrid in makit the 

arrest? A Yes, sir. 

Q It was not upon this charge upon which he now inS 
st„ tried? A No, sir. "x1C 

It was upon another charge? A Yes, sir. 

BY MR. McLAUGHLIN: 

(I Now, where did the arrest take place? A kt,' he Oorner 

of Valentine Avenue and One Hundred and Beventy-piihtill 

Street. 

Q At the corner of Valentine Avenue ad One Hundred and 

Seventy-eighth Street? A Yee, blr, 

BY THE COURT: 

•,-; 



, 

And on this other charge on whidh he was arrested he WS 

then arraigne4 in the court? A Ye, s4t, 

3101. McLAUGHLIIT: 

robbery preferred against him down there. 

No, I am talking about the same identical case. 

J OHIC H-EMDERs0 NI awitness •called AO tehalf 

the People, after being duly sworn, testifia4 rolloWS: 

D-irlinet-'Examination: 
; 

BY, MR. GREY: 

Officer 141nderson,!are Y'ou an officer attached the 
0')• 

Municipal PoliCe Force of this Qty and Countn 

tr 
sirr I did' not. 

Were you prespni in the police court 0U the MOrning 



Of February, I should say. A Yee) sir; I Was, 

ident4ied the prisofter before f' went In. • 

Then yo; know nothing about It/ A I we t Uere 

Of and asked her if she had identified the  M411:44Cshe 

But i'he identification had taken place be 

were you present when this man demanded •ap. eXaminati 



No complaint was made by her? A Ihe was will: 

a complaint. 

A She was inside of the riiilingr yes. 

But she didn't make it? A I arraigned her !,eforp the 

magis'xate when the complaint had been drawn against the 

defendant in another matter, and the magiStr0t, JB.40.4 that. 

any evidence that I had in another' veoz), to sUhrait'it*to th 

District Attorney, which _I 

*Q But she made no complaint there? A 

Re -Direct Exami,nation: 

Bt MR. GREY: 

And that was., said in the presence othG do0p4Ont? 

Yes, sir. 

AR. 'GIEY I will rest the easel. your 4010 

McLAUGHLIN: One minute., offieer% cooa-P. 

just one minute. 

Re -Cross Examinat10 

. 0 house 

to have them identified? A No, sir, 

Do you know Which one of the officers„ id? 

Not Not of your own knowled A Ito, sir. I waif) 7404 IA the 



there -later on. 

Q Later on? A Yes, sir. 

—Now, officer, you had this man in -he police conk 911 what. 

thy, the 17th? A I didn't havehim as stvpriiOner at -all' 

counselor. 

But when you were there and the Of identifieation tbok - 

place you were there then? A Yes. 

And wasn't he remanded to another_dely examination? 

Q Didn't Magistrate Brann, when this 01 insisted' upon a 

ing an examination in that oases didn't Magistrate Brann 

ask why you didn't bring the woman into orourt? A No. 

Did such a thing occur? 

MR. GREY: Objected to. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. , It answered 11 104. 

ever, 

THE WITHESS 3ha11 1 answers youi;* Honor? 

THS COURT: No. The question':has been answered, 

mR. MbLAUGHLIN: Do you overrule ,the questi041 ygur 

Honor? 

THE COURT: Tho question is anihiler,10 . Bc 0.444d ngt 



What did occur at the time of the ,adjourned exaMination 

the time of theOf case? A I went up and explained 'to 

the Magistrate. I said, "Your Honor directed no -te. take 

this man before the District Attorney and the Arena Jury 

her there? A No, sir. 

MR. GREY: I rest the ease. 

I have the officer here who brought the other 

prisoners up to the complainant's h0Use, but as 

long as they were not Adontifir, I will not call 

him unless the defendant watts hint. 

MR. MeLAUGHLIN: Of course. I, thinlOyod,oudht 

him. Who is he? 

MR. GREY: Officer Baker. I will rest my case, 

THE DE FE  

atORG E( SUMMER 8, the defendant, beii dup sworn, 

testified as follows: 

LIGLAUGHLIN: 

your own way, Sumer --tali 1 ud enough oo that the 

twelfth juror win hoar wi:Ot you say. Did you 1400114 



THE COLIIITI One moment, Mr. McLaughlin. Sp as t0-
: 

mat the re...cora clear, ask the witness *he he .1* 

Ask him, "Are you the defendant", 

BY 11gR. McLApGHLIN: 

Q Are you the defendant in this action? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where do you reside? A I live at One Hundred eLnd Twenty 

fifth Street and Amsterdam Avenue. 

In the City of New York? A Yes,, sir.. 

Q Did you commit this most outrageous assault? A No, 

I didn't. 

Q Did you have anything to do with it? 

Q Did you aid any other person by having allYthin$ with. 

such an assault? A No, sir. 

Where were you arrested? A I was arrested •at the, =corner 

of Tremont Avenue and Burns ide „ if I atfit; tilistake.n* 

Now, go on and tell. Where were You arrested? 

arrested on the corner or Tremont and Btirns.ide 

think. It was the first time I ever was put titer  

don't know the streets very well. 

Tlat' COURT Speak it little-- Io.nder. 
an, 
A (ooltinued). It vras the first time, that 

was out the?* where I was arrested, And they tJ 

the citation hone', and next mornina to the pail* 



and in the court roam the officer goes in and sits himself 

between two Tvimen, and he points me out to her, ph 

complainant, and I calls the other officer,i'attontiOU to 

it, and he calls the woman's attention to.me, and 1 oalrof 

when he said, "That woman charged you with having -held her, 

fore me?" But I was never in 

I have three good witnesses to 

yesterday.. 

BY; MR. McLAUOHLIN: 

Now, how were you taken into that court? 

into that court handcuffed, and talked uP Pear the Ju 

and sat down. Mr. O'Brien sat alongo or 40 

Ke ny--wtitift --well, Mr. Kelly at alongs4ide- of tie and: 

O'Brien went bacy to the woman, and he made Me  stand Up to 

unloosen the handcuff. 

And what did he open them with? A With 4 kett. 404 

stood, with me while the other officer went to thi0 woman* 

To the lady? A Yes, sir; and f*Baw him polint right pit 

and I called Kelly's 

pointed at me.. 

c s s Examination: 

BY lER. GREY: 

,ci Ilows you !were arrested on anoth 



• 

•, 
Al 4s, sir. 

IdR.McLAUGHLIN:, I object to.that. He W 

t A, That is sufficient. 

BY 1VER GREY:, 

Q Then you were arrested? A Yeb, sir. 
, 

THE COURT: You brought out the factrthat he was .arres 

ed; and the District Attorney has right to •ask  • 

him if he was arrested on this charge or not. 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: I object. 
4: 

THE WITNESS: I was ari#estea on no was 

arrested on suspii# 

BY THE COURT: 

You were arrested on suspicion? A Yes, 6 

Q But on what charge were you held in the Magistrate 

you were not held on suspicion in the Uregletrate 

were you? 

MR. M4AUGHLI1: Objected tb. 

A No, sir; I waslAoin.g.. 

atreet car---- 4 

BY THE COURT: 

Q No. We are not trying that case here. 

- 
on suspicion you say?, A Yes, sir. 

I was iding on a• , 

You were arregte 

Q And on what charge yore you held in th latrate• 

A Larceny. 

I 



MR. McLAUGHLIN: _1 beg your Roxiorts pard014 

him only where the arrest took place 

ask him about it. 

THE COURT: Well, ylpu brought out the tact of the 

arrest, and t is perfectly pro 10 tor the Distri 

At  to show that he was not arrested' 04 this 

charge. 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: And I objeCt to your orlis ex 

tion in this direction. 

THE COURT: Very well, and he atate3 thabe was 

arrested on suspicion, 

BY MR. GREY: 

Q Now, you were arraigned in the poUe cOurt tbe 180 of 

February? A Yes, sir. 
-c 

Q Wo told you that the :lady:, ointed out? Brie 
4 

no, Kelly. - O'Brien had the woman. 

Now, you had never, seen Mrs. Of before, 

gno' iir; I had never seen her before« 

And so when O'Brien went thp;re. to: see Ars,* Of be %WO 

ing to somebody- that you had never seen bar*  OA Oa 

knew nothing about; isn't- that So? il,A1- I iteVer' 

before until I seen her thers,„, 

Q, And 'jou knew nothing about bar until that morning? 

ad YOu. 

A No, sir; but I see htin point- to met and t eel!, 
- 



point to me. 

Why did you call the judge's attention to a woman  that wa 

calling to you? A O'Brien told me that 0110 identified 

me. Kelly had taken my handcuffs off 

Now, I asked you first when was the ti nit that Said,' 

that the woman identified you, and you said after 'O'Brien 

went over to see her. Now, do you reixtember that? 

A No, sir; I don't. 

Q, Now then, why was it that you objected ,f1P. the. ge--to.tb 

officer talking to a -woman-you never had se0Z.,befortv. 

A Why, he told me coming: up on the train, ":0144? 

poison you before I. get through -?4th 

BY TIER; COURT: 

He told you coming up on the train" "En, ptatt,ttyou befOre, 

I get through with you"? A Yes, StitV 

BY MR. GREY: 

And so you began to susPjc o ething 4e.n wetOV 

talk with a strange woman?-

anything from him. 

And did you say to 9140 

would Mispect 

dge "1 sualiechim 

me," when he went oV r -.o talk to the woMan? 

But he said that.hetyla have another charge against Mee 
"11 '4IN 
- 

And how did you,know' At the wort= was going to make the 

other charge? didn't knWW. 



Q. And how did you know what kind of a charge it.wati-4 

he didn't tell me until afterwards. I called the j1.08e0 

attention to it. • 

And then you still remonstrated with the. Tuae, ii4 YO 

I did, yes. 

Now, tell me this: you say that you hd.fleVOX.beC.fliU 

Bronx over the Bridge before? A No, sir. 

What is that? A I never was. 

Burnside Avenue? A I never was. 

Q On the 27th of January? A I never w.si there* 

Q And do you mean to say that you were not ettric, 

car on that day? A 'No, sir; I never 

But you live at One Hundred and Twent fifth: t4tto 

you? A Yes, sir; I lived there for two weeks. 

And never have been over the Bridge? No, Or. 

flue, between First and Second Street. I lived there whext, 

this crime was 'supposedto have been committed. 

And, what was the number at which you lived? 

couldn't say very well, but it was three doors frpul the 

corner. 



sice2A115%:. 

A No, but it was some Jew. 

It was some Jew? A Yes sir. 

You can't tell me the name of the man yOu liVea W 

A No, sir. 

Or the number? A No, sir. 

How long did you live in this unknown addreee 

week. 

And where did you live before that? A -Wells 

ed before that. I had just got out 0 

Yes? A Yes. 

Q And how long had you been in jall,w 

About two,months, I guees. 

Had you served a sentence? A No, 

Then you had been three-ieeks 0140 when. Ow*ere 

arrested this time? A Well, I gu.ess little over that; 

a little more than that. 

How much more than that? A Well, I 00 ld tt Say. Wu 

can figure it out easy. I was liberated on the 14#h 

January, and I was arrested'on:the 17th Of February.' 

One month .and three days? A Yes. 

How long have you been in New York? A I have t 11,047* 

about six months, I suppose., 

You used to,liVe-in Rochester? A to, sir. 

In Chicago? A- No, sir. d have been there. 



You were convicted in Chioago, weren't you? A ITS4 

You were convicted in Rochester, weren't you? 

I was not. 

Q When did you come here from Ohioago? 

here about six or eight months. 

Q What have you done for a living? A I OL a walte 

Q Where? A In a restaurant,.., worke4, in Albany 'the la 

place I worked. 

Where? A In a restaurant as a w 

Q How long did you live in Albany? .A About aiX months. 

Q And when did yOu come from Aabatr? 

six months ago. 

A . AboUt aJittIe Vve 

And you haven't had any work sinqle then, 

sir; I was working over in JerseY att 

Q You were working over in Jersey Oit ? A tes 

And then when you came from Albany yOu we' t to Jersey GUY 

A No, sir; I came down here to New York. 

And were you in jail pefore or after 4-00108 to Jers. 

A Well, bare. 

7 Olty? 

went to jail after I came over 

HoW soon after you came from Albany did you spell 

in jail? A I gs it was three monthS0 

Q Three months? A :,Y0s. 

ur t 

What 'aid you do for the three months before you went to 



a. 

Q, 

A. 

jail? -, A Why--

$peak louder. 

As,. what? A As 

Where? A Over 

Who with? A 

A 4,,was workings 

a waiter. . 

in 34'r'sey C ity . 

In a restaurant. 

7e---ntrft, 

What was the man's name? A With a Man 

What is his first name A Henry 8,uriee 

Q How much did you get,?--. A Four dollars a week 

. .„ 

What kind of a restaurant was it -.A "Well, a 4heap 

restaurant. 

And how long did you stay there 

Q Who else worked with you? A Gill 

other people there. 

Give the names of some of them. A I 

of them. 

You don't know any of them? A NG1sir* 

Bow long did you work there? A Thre,e4iOnth0 

About three months? A Yes, sir. 

And then you worked up to the time you went t)O.,itail 

you? 

Ore  

About roe =lithe. 

Wo' 

444 

A I come down from there ---I come over frotiJerSe 

City,. and after I quit work there I got arreotola.-
‘ 

Q And weren't you arrested in New York?  A  

Q And went to jail in WOW York, didn't yea? A Yes. , 

1 And it was not on accOunt. of anything done in NOV Iersoyi 

i 



' was it? A No, sir. 

Q And how long had you been in New York before you were 

arrested? A ph, not 1Ong: 

Q Well, give a guess. A Aboat two week0) 

Q About two weeks? A Yø, sir. 

What did you do that to ie;!Eit40 Oh, Z bad money 

live. 

- - , 
Well, where did you get sit? AT I worked 1.0r to, 

Worked for it? A Yes. 

Did you save it out of the four  Olitts, 4 WOW 

Where is your home? A In illinoi 

Where? A Peoria, Illinois. 

Who is the Mayor of Peoria? A Why,,. tard was the Las 

man when I was there. 

What did I do? 



Yes. A I went and got a room. I was sick., .1., 
4;. 

Q Where? A Down in Second Avenue. 

Q Oh, this is the place that you can't remember? ..13060n 

, 
Avenue. 

And what did you live on then? A I got :IrOW 

father at home. 

What IL; hiF !Haw? A Summers. 

Who were you brought into court with On she. mornii 

you were arrested? A I forget; wit1imebo4.y. 

Q What was his name? A Ohl Tuohey. 

Q Tuohey? A Yes sir. 

Were you arrested with him? A Well, he watt arrested• 

the car. He was on the front and . I was On the %bid•end 

the car. 

Avenue, was it not? A !Os, sir. 

Why/ didn't you say that you were neverover, the sri ges be 

fore? A , Well, I was arrested over the re , the .day X' Was 

;arrested. 

a 



The day you wore arrested? A Ye)s, sir. 

Q Now, how long have you known Puohey 4 hat wasjha 

first time I, ever seen hi:M. He was out there with three 

other men, I don't know who they were. 

You didn't know their names/ A No, siri, I didn't knew 

any of them. 

Then how do you know that he was there with three other__ 

men? There was a lot of people in the dart was ,.there  

A No, sir; there wasn't very many people, I was on 

the car. 

Q You were on the rear platform? A YeS) sir., 

Q And he was on the front platform? A Yo.:0 

Q Then where were :the three other men? A. t NOr* 

car. They must have been sitting in the-'40e; 

Q But you say you had never seen, h*M.beferet 'A 'It 

I never saw him until he was arreited4. 

And there is the foundation then of your remark that 110 114$ 

there with three other men? A Well, I saw law standt45 

around on the sidewalk with the men before the aar came a46 

Q Why, you were on the rear- end of the car? A' Yes,.an the 

rear end. 

Q And he got on'the front platform of the ear, you say? 

A yes. And there is where he, was arrested from. 

; And then how did you see him -get -t9N? A Well) I.dOW 



A 

, 
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know. That's where they Paid -he was arreste‘ And 

told me' so himself afterwards. 

And then how do you kW= that he was there, with three Other 
j. 

men? A I saw him talking with thorn on.the-0.idowa41 b 

fore they got on the car. , r.14 ... rot, 

How did he'get on the car? A I don't 4nOW hoe fie &tit- e 

How did they get on? A I don't know, They.mtlet have 

been inside. 

Q Well then, give us the reason for saying tbat 4e was them 

with three other men? A I saw him with three men talk-

ing together on the sidewalk; and .I ,,do know .whether 

they were on the car or not. if they ,wereot the.. car 

must have been inside. Tfiey were not 4b the' back end of 

the platform. 

Q They *ere ahead of you as the ear came up? -A ITh.taS.% 

- know of. 

Q Well, explain that to the jury if you can. .A I Was - 

standing at that corner. 

Yes. A Stand*/ there five minutes. And him and thre 

other men were standing there also talking and fooling 

around there, and when the car came along I got on, and I 

seen them going to get on, but I don't know whether they 

got on or not. 

Now, I understand you :to say that when you got on the Ca 



,d,,,A44.001M 

• 

1 
, 

•• 

..••••• 

just before you got on the car where you were arrested an 

where TUohey was arrested, and Where you say he Was with 

three other men, making five in all, you had been, atanding 

on the same corner together; is that right? 

I wasn't with him at all, I was by Myself, 

Oh, you were all on the 6ornertogether? A we ware 

on the corner together, it was in the waiting roca. 

,1\low, describe Tuohey. 

:slitcLAUGHLIN: I object to IAA de OriptIOU. 

# 

144; 
wei 

Q 'low, describe Tuohey. 

MR. McLAUGHLIE: Objected tO. 

THE. COM : All0Wed. 

MR! McLAUGHLIK: Exception, • 

'A _Why, he is a young man) I ' heuld jUdge-ObeUt 

two years old. 

1314 MR. GREY: 0 

Q Yes? A Very near as tall as I am; anmoth face 

Yes; smobth foce? A ,:Yes, sir. 

Did you he4 Mrs. Of describe the an wA t h emooth 

face that she Saw with the man that robbed 12024? 
' 

sir. 

Was that Tuohey? A - I On' t '11* Were both:. 

handcuffed' together when We Were br u to the' P01100 



court, togettier'. 

That jail w re you in? 

MR: MghAUGILIN: Objected to. 

MR. GREY: Well, I am describing-his location. 

said-he was in a jail, 

A In the Tombs. 

B. McLAUGHLIN:, Has he the right 
L 

Honor? 

THE COURT: He has answered the quest 

was in the Tombs. 

By THE COURT: 

13 

One moment. What were you convicted Or when yir54 we 

jail? A I wasn't convicted. 

THE COURT: He says he was rot'cOn#44t0.4.,. 

MR. GREY: He says he was never convIcted. 

THY COURT: Well, what was he dicing Wjail? 

MR.,McLAUORLIN: I objeO to that. 

THE COURT: Well, Iwant it e plained for is own 

benefit. 

WITVESS: was arrested and brought up and 

committed for petty larceny froM the\lersonl 

I was brought up and acquitted. 

THE COURT: 

You were acquiit'd 



Were- you over convicted? sir. 

Of any crithe? A No, sir. 

MR. GREY: 

What was •the name that you had on the trial? 4 SumMer`. 

MR. MeLAUGHLIN: I object to this, I objectIO this 

going into this at all. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. 

Summers was my name. 

BY; THE SECOND JUROli: 

Did you say that you add Mr. Tuohy and three Obher men 

anding On the. 

corner, and be was standing there with_thre0-ot 

And you got on the car ftrst? A Yet* slim... 

And the other four man got on the car itteryou.7 

Yes, I think so. 

Well, but you said that you didrnot see thAM 00 thd OA ? 

Well, they might have been sitting 41# 

didn't see them get on the ear. I got On the f43'ttffl

first, on the hind end. ,The da 00,f7fias. 411010tra 

ing.) 

Did you see them o the car at all? A 04W Tuohey, 

But you said you soon him in the ear, A 111 ear 

COMDS down and stopSii., She,doesa t oou aU the INAY.throll$ 
71 1 

When Ivac get ing on the land 0.44.s 000104 000 TwihsY et I 



in front. 

And you Said that you,alse saw the three Other man A 

the car? A I don' t'thittic I did, I suppose they were rs 

tkiae car. 

BY MR. GREY: 

Q Now, in answer to the juror's q.e,stion--howdA..Ou know 
, 

about the habits of the or if you had never been up there 

before? A Oh, I had been standing 11102* for bozt ten 

minutes. 

Q Then you let the other cars go by? A., óneóar went by. 

Re -Direct Examina t 10 xi; 

BY MR. McLAUGHLIN: 

And Tuohey was the man with you in the 01100 tourt? 

And this lady didn't identify tit as one 0$ the mOn, that 

hit her or robbed her? A No, s VOur Honor; $ have 

t;ot three more 'witnesses to prove where X was. 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: I will attend to that 3, lalr 

lawyer better than you will 

THE COURT: Counsel will attend tO he suanonitta of 

your witnesses. Counsel 'hue hail more  experiente 
f 



• 

A 

•. 
ANK BAKER, awittess called on behalf of the 4 

fense, being duly sworn, testified as,follows: 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: Will you examine him or 

Direct Examina-t ion: 

0 MR. McLAUGHLIN: 

Q You were summoned here by the People? A Ye air. 

Q. 

'Iltou are an officer of police? A Yes) si, 
You made three arrests? A I made thte arTests? No, 

• 

sir; I didn't make any arrests. 

Somebd y did? A Yes. 

And you took the three people a-0.14ra4 Off? A Not 

I didn't.:, but they ware biought there, bdliev 

hen you don't know anything.about it? 

, some of the stuff in the cellar. 

yes, T found 

No, no. I want to know about the ide Hication.' 

A Yes. • I saw Mrs. Of identif twthe po3. 

court. 

I.am talking about the three men that 'were brought up tO h 

A Oh, no, sir. I did make an -arrest ip that 

case. I thought you referred to this gentleudiari 

Summers. 

Did you take anybody up to the Of house/ A Ve„54 

One, two or three? A One 

But there,were two others taken t12erp/1 A 

' 

• 



:97 

lieve so. 

Crlo8s Examination: None. 

13.1 THE COURT: 

Q She did not identify the man that you toOk there aslhaVing 

had any part in this affair? A No, sir; net the- one 

brought. 

`44 

• 

MR. McLAUGHIZN: Now, your }loner, I wOUld beg you, o 

, 
account of the pressure that ',had this -mornlng 

, 
account of this case, to give Ue unt 1 te,m0Orraw 

morning. '1, want to go out and see if I can get 

these other two witnesses myself. sent out 

messengers. 

THE COURT: Of course; if yeu Ual° not your witnesses 

here: I will have to let case go Over until 

to -morrow morning. 
' 

MR. McLAUGHLIN: Thank you,Sir. 1 expeoted 11 

COMB in every minute, and the deXendant 44Y$ "01 

he has three. 

THE COURT: Then the ease must go over. 1 will AO 

compel any man to go to trial without allowing 

to  have reasonat3e time to get his witnessea• 

(The Court then admonished the In ac 

dance with seotiOn 415 Of1h0 416at of OriMina 
Procedure, and took ar44d:joti.rnAtent until 11 
o'clock on ThUrOday itipia4a4 MArob 44, 1901.) , 



- 

• ......••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 

Are you ready to proceed? 

MR. McLAUCEILIN: Permit me to conilftet nty own detenae. 

I ask your Honor to direct and advioe 

acquit. 

THE 0OURT: Motion denied. 

MR. MaLAUGHLIN: Exception. I a:a1 or lionor to tab 

away from the consideration or the jury iobberys 

the first degree. 

THE 00UFV: motion clenledr.. 

MR. MOLAUTIRLIN: ExdoptIon. 



OunT's (MARGE. 

Gentlemen of the 

in the first degree, which congietti ilk the Un3.0.1M4 

taking by force and violence of takoporw vont tlle. 

person of anoth,er; and., When aci6o-'63.1.shed. by more 

than one person, acting in concert It 40 zabbery 

in the first dgree. 

There semi to be no qUeStiOn to caSe 

that a robbery was cOilMitteat at Ite time and. 

place laid in the indictient and. by several person 

acting in concert. 

The People contend that this defendant was 

one of those persons,  so tingin. One:art, An 
, 

that he was t1te, prinaPa. PitritY OrIg4g0d'•in 1he 

of force. , 

That there was ftirce oplildit of course, is 

not disputed,LAny more that_ any other of the es 

sential facts-is :disputed. 

so that the only questiOni, it 000M$ to nO, f0 

you to determine, is: Was this Otandant.amot 

those persons wlo.weo engaged in ,the comatosiOn 

; this crime? 



„„. 

1, 

You have, on the one hand., the po itive t 

timony of the complaining witness, repeated oVer, 

and over again, that this 111 most deOidedly,•and 

beyond a doubt, the man Who assealted 

caught her by the throat,' who beat heir Ati;Oan 

bag, Who struck her a number of .oa1 Who Stood 

guard over her While she was iyirig tborett bound an 

gagged, while he robbed her of her purse tonctainin 

about eight dollars, and while his OSsoclated ran 

sacked. her house, who helped. to throw her upon the 

coal bin, and whomIshe had 'seen on the preVious 

day, when he came there' aiVarantlY .0n a re00 

ing expedition, questionM her first On the 80,-

ject of groceries, and then aelting her abotti ber 

'husband and about what time he was atfloriand 

who, on the follonng day,s-reappeared, after she , 

had closeky observed him, an this first day, be-

cause she suspecte& him, on account of his clues-
., ( 

tions, and watched him after he left the house and 

as he wont1.dwri the front steps, and Whom she had 

the npict ;lay, the- day of the robbery, sMPle 10P, 
., 

portun,.$ 

would n 

observe, under circumstances that 

ally vividly impress his face upon her 
„ 

mind. 7 oU-- flay heard the positivestat, „Ito 
t. „.. 
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her that this is the men. 
a 

Her honesty in that respect is further OV 

denced by the circumstance that two or three MO 

men, according to the testimony of thofficers; 

had been previously arrested, in conieetion, with 

this crime, and taken to her house fOzidentltica 

tion, but were not identified by her. 

It is claimed by The People that, if She was 

so anxious to identify and punish somaoar, without 

reference to his guilt, or if she was so Weak 

minded as to swear that a particular person Com 

mitt act this Crime, simply bacaUSO 'the police wan 

her to do so, it is more than Mast- vb.4%.,0110 WOul 

have hit upon one of those melt thd.ad been i0440 

'viously brought to her house by ttilit.Offieersi upqn 

the very allegation that they.r re engaged In the 

commission of this crime. 

The defense is chiefly that She Was mistaX04 

in the identification, and 'that Vhs'identificatiPA 

was made at the instigation of tile pollee offiCers 

At: Remember, gentlemen of the :aril that Your 

sworn duty is to decid0 this case a0Cording tallw 

evidence presented to. YOA, and not according to th 

surmises or theories of counsel, and that the quo0 

• 

a 
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tions of counsel, no matter how adroitly they oV 

framed ,,are not evidence but that the aneWere•a 

witnesses are evidence. • 

In order to clear that point ln yrrar sande. 

the Court asked this question of the 1143101 

witness: HQ Madam, when you oaMe into the mart 

room and sat dovn, had. you reeoVilzed this delend-

ant, before either of the detecttves spoke to you/ 

Had you recognized the defendant, in your mind* 

before they asked. you? A In my mind? Q 

A Oh, yes, I had.H 

Now, then, assuming that t swittees 

eatly testifying, you have to eberbidOr her -an 

in that respect, in cOnneetionth the, ittootleq 

suggested by counsel f61; the defendant that 

was induced to identify this defendant because :0 

of the polio officers pointed him out. 

ghe swears there positiVely, arid. Oat 

swears t6 iv -evidence in this caSe4 reMenter, 

she had recognized) him in her own elzei, betbro 
4 a 

either of the detectives aotuall 

was in court, or certainly before either 

had spoke n to her upon the subject. 
.41•1• 

'It is a favarite tlIAMOwith mans 



'Os 

police, in order to gave their reputatiOn, dO riots 

care particularly Whether they convict the etaity , 
or the 'innocent, as long as they convict' 

Well, be that 'ha itmay, all Ifloø&say to lyxiu 

on the subject is, that there is no ovidenoi) in 

this case that supports that theery. 

Of =arse, in cases like this,* there is always 

conflict of testimonY,. 

Here the direct testimony as to the occur  

Is necessarily only that of the complairang wit-

ness, because none others were ihereil except thOS0 

who were engaged. in the coMmisSion ol* t 

The defendant denies that he Was present,. 

had any part in the (ITU°. He d4nied EV6i, Vn 

he bad ever been in that viarritr. *JO S. that 

up to that time he had never (mosso% the bri 

He testifies as to his antecedents, as to ti 

previous residences and. whereabouts, and, of COUT;891 .t, 

raises the direct issue as'between himself 'and the 

complaining witness. 

In determining Whin of two witneseeS tale 

the truth, you have a right to consider tail the. 

circumstancep that the case develops. WI have 

right to consider what interest each may haVel JAI; 



the result of your dellbOations. 

It goes without saying that the d.etota1. 

ways has a very serious the•reznat 

a jury's deliberations, Where he is on trim/ t a 

grave mime. 

You have a right to ask yourselves bow fa.  

that may influence his testimony when he,taltes th 

stand. 

other witness, as to what motive they bay have in 

swearing before you, or in departing fram the 

truth. 

You have a right to as  VourSelve04what Motiv 

could this woman, the complaining witness, bay) in 

selecting this particular man, and mitering with 

such positive directness that he is absolutely tbe-

man that assaulted her in thie Gruel manner, unless 

suspicion, generated by police effort. 

, The People are obliged to make out their ease 

beyond a reasonable doubt. If they have failed 

to do so in this case, the defendant is entitled to 

the benefit of that doubt Which means an acquittal. 

The law surrounds every defendant with the 



presumption of innocence, and that 

mains about ,about him, as a mantle,- until your verdiot 

But ,,bear in mind that this Met 1?6 

reasonable doubt, that is, a doubt based On sound, 

solid, substantial rea90na, and not a au3V1jSe 

or suggestion or ingenious the° 

the circumstances of the case. 

mt Might fit 

,at be =eh a 

doubt as would influence men of gO0a ugt in 

the important affairs of their dai10-life, and con 
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